FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/29/2020 1:10 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/1/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98604-5

No. 78764-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JERRY KESSELRING,

Petitioner,

v.

DONALD L. KESSELRING and JUDITH G. KESSELRING, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof, KEITH A. KESSELRING and MARY M. KESSELRING, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof, ESTATE OF BRAD D. KESSELRING, and KESSELRING GUN SHOP, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jerry Kesselring, appellant below, asks this Court to grant review of Division I's decision terminating review set forth in section B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I issued its opinion on April 6, 2020. Jerry Kesselring filed a timely motion to publish on April 20, 2020. Division I denied the motion by an order entered on May 11, 2020. The opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-28. A copy of the order denying publication is in the Appendix at page A-29.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In a derivative action, where a shareholder documents that corporate leadership embezzled funds, casually used corporate funds for personal purposes, increased shareholder tax liability, and lost a critical ATF firearms license resulting in the dissolution of the corporation, did the Court of Appeals err in holding that there is a lower fiduciary duty owed by corporate officers/directors under RCW 23B.08.300/.420 to the corporation and its shareholders because the corporation is family-held, and the corporate officers/directors, though inept, acted in "good faith"?
- 2. Did the trial court err in failing to award the shareholder who prevailed in the derivative action attorney fees at trial and on appeal?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion essentially was correct in its recitation of the facts in this case. Op. at 2-8. Division I's opinion effectively agrees that

Keith, Don, and Brad breached their fiduciary duties to KGS in *numerous* respects:

- Brad embezzled KGS funds on Keith/Don's watch as corporate officers/directors, and such embezzlement went undetected until Jerry discovered KGS financial discrepancies. CP 2557-58 (FF 1.22-1.23); RP 221, 1161-72;
- KGS's handling of its firearms inventory was so inept on Keith/Don's watch, under-reporting the firearms possessed by the business, that KGS's new CFO, Mel Call, was compelled to report \$5 million in additional inventory that resulted in added corporate tax liability for KGS. CP 2557 (FF 1.20);
- Jerry's investigation of KGS's finances resulted in that under-reported inventory being uncovered. CP 2557 (FF 1.19, 1.21); RP 205-06;
- The interaction between ATF and KGS on Keith/Don's watch disclosed multiple violations of federal firearms law and regulations, resulting in ATF's revocation of KGS's firearms license, CP 2559 (FF 1.30); Ex. 16, 25-26, 29, for which the officers/directors were responsible. CP 2571 (FF 1.77) (loss of ATF license "rests on the shoulders of KGS' directors");
- The loss of the ATF license resulted in a \$5.079 million loss to KGS. CP 2571 (FF 1.80);
- Jerry was not aware of KGS's ongoing problems with ATF during Keith/Don's watch. CP 2570-71 (FF 1.75, 1.78). The court stated: "Jerry Kesselring cannot be held responsible for KGS not maintaining the FFL. The loss of KGS' FFL was a failure to carry out the duties owed by the directors to KGS and to Jerry Kesselring and *for this, there is liability*." CP 2571 (FF 1.78) (emphasis added);

 Keith/Don disregarded the corporate legal formalities of Washington law, keeping no records of corporate actions such as loans to officers/directors. CP 2562 (FF 1.44), 2563 (FF 1.45), 2568 (FF 1.65).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Division I's opinion merits review by this Court because it is contrary to numerous Washington decisions on the fiduciary duties of officers and directors to a corporation and its shareholders, RAP 13.4(b)(2), and creates a lower fiduciary duty standard for family-held corporation that is simply bad public policy. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(1) The Trial Court Correctly Found that Don, Keith and Brad Breached Fiduciary Duties as KGS Officers/Directors

Washington law has long recognized that officers/directors of corporations are fiduciaries for the corporations and the corporate shareholders they serve.¹ From at least 2006 forward, Don, Keith, and

¹ E.g., Wool Growers Service Corp. v. Ragan, 18 Wn.2d 655, 691, 140 P.2d 512 (1943) (citing 1 Bogert, Trusts and Trustees at 59) ("[D]irectors of a corporation in the management of the corporate affairs occupy a position of extreme trust and confidence and exercise great power for good or bad over the corporation and its shareholders. They are agents for the corporation. Toward it and the stockholders they undoubtedly stand in a fiduciary relation as far as corporate business is concerned."); Leppaluoto v. Eggleston, 57 Wn.2d 393, 402, 357 P.2d 725 (1960) (corporate officers/directors are fiduciaries with respect to the corporation they serve and are liable when they act outside the scope of their authority to the corporation's injury); State ex rel. Hayes Oyster Co. v. Keypoint Oyster Co., 64 Wn.2d 375, 381, 391 P.2d 979 (1964) (directors and officers of a corporation "occupy a fiduciary relation to a private corporation and the shareholders thereof akin to that of a trustee, and owe undivided loyalty, and a standard of behavior above that of the workaday world."); Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc., 172 Wn. App. 835, 860-61, 292 P.3d 779 (2013), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1038 (2016) (corporate officers

Brad were KGS officers/directors. The duties of officers/directors, prescribed in RCW 23B.08.300(1) and RCW 23B.08.420(1), have been described as ones of good faith, due care, and loyalty to the corporation. Lodis, supra. The fiduciary duties owed by a director or officer to a corporation and its shareholders continue even while the corporation is breaking apart. Lang v. Hougan, 136 Wn. App. 708, 718, 150 P.3d 622 (2007), review denied, 163 Wn.2d 1018 (2008).

The trial court's own findings documented the multiple ways in which Don, Keith, and Brad breached their fiduciary duties to KGS. The court correctly found that they did not comply with corporate formalities, Brad embezzled funds,² they used corporate resources for personal purposes,³ they lost KGS's vital ATF licensure,⁴ and they mishandled the

owe fiduciary duties of good faith, care, and loyalty, and are forbidden from acquiring profit for themselves directly or indirectly at the expense of the corporation).

Petition for Review - 4

² Jerry's investigation of KGS's books revealed Brad's embezzlement. CP 2557 (FF 1.22). That embezzlement resulted in major losses to KGS. CP 2557-58 (FF 1.23-1.24).

³ KGS corporate management paid extensive personal expenses from corporate resources. CP 2563-67 (FF 1.47, 1.49-1.54, 1.57-1.59, 1.61-1.63). Despite all of its problems, KGS also paid its corporate leadership expansive compensation and bonuses, CP 2569-70 (FF 1.69, 1.73), and allowed them to routinely pay personal expenses from the corporation and to borrow freely from it without any accounting. For example, Brad bought a tractor and a truck with KGS funds. RP 242-44, 249.

⁴ KGS failed to properly comply with ATF regulatory directives regarding firearms, CP 2559-60 (FF 1.30-1.33), resulting in its loss of the ATF license. CP 2560-61. (FF 1.34-1.35). The court acknowledged that KGS's value plummeted after the loss of the ATF license, and that loss of value was more than \$5 million. CP 2572 (FF 1.80).

corporate books so as to sustain a huge tax loss.⁵ The trial court found that KGS was damaged by their misconduct in excess of \$5 million. CP 2572 (FF 1.80).

The trial court's treatment of the blame for the loss of the ATF license was particularly bizarre. It effectively found the loss of the license was a breach of fiduciary duty to the corporation:

1.74 Following the 2005 ATF Audit, the Company had more than six years to be in full compliance with ATF regulations and had a duty to comply with the ATF regulations. Keith Kesselring made significant efforts to comply including the July 2010 Compliance Plan. During this time, Keith Kesselring was dealing with complications of his own serious medical condition, Brad had recently died, they were trying to figure out how to get the money needed to resolve his Estate and his shares, and there was this ongoing lawsuit. All of the other Company problems existing in 2010 created difficulty in educating the employees to comply in every respect with the ATF regulations.

1.75 There were substantial violations by KGS of ATF regulations and requirements as far back as 1968 that were first identified in 2005. Again, in 2011, further violations were found. Those who were responsible for the day-to-day management of KGS had a clear duty to resolve the ATF issues, as the business could not exist without the license. KGS directors and officers were put on notice of the possibility KGS could lose its Federal Firearms License

Petition for Review - 5

⁵ The trial court found (FF 1.19) that Jerry alerted KGS management to serious underreporting of KGS inventory to the IRS. CP 2557. "This restatement of inventory value for KGS created additional significant tax liability for each of the shareholders." *Id.* KGS had to address the inventory issue in subsequent tax returns. *Id.* (FF 1.20, 1.21). This failure was the fault of KGS's corporate leadership. As a direct result of the failure of the officers/directors to account for KGS's inventory, KGS sustained large tax losses. CP 2557 (FF 1.19-1.21).

("FFL") for violations of ATF regulations and requirements as early as 2005 or 2006.

CP 2570-71. It found that Keith and Don were responsible:

Donald Kesselring took very little part in attempting to rectify the problems with the ATF. Keith Kesselring did most of the work and he made significant efforts. Efforts were undertaken to locate and identify the firearms on the "missing list" and this continued even during the receivership following the closing of the Company in 2013. However, Keith's efforts were insufficient to accomplish the changes needed to prevent the loss of the FFL, and he didn't get help from Donald Kesselring. The efforts of Keith, and Donald to the extent he provided any assistance, were ineffective to accomplish the changes at KGS that were needed to keep the FFL, which was a core requirement of the business.

CP 2571 (FF 1.76). But it then seemingly found they were not responsible for their mismanagement because it was "unintentional:"

The loss of license was a result of two generations of informal management of a highly lucrative business. The Court does not find that the Company was financially mismanaged, but was regulatorily mismanaged. The loss of the ATF License cannot be laid at the feet of Donald Kesselring and Keith Kesselring because of any actions they took, but instead it is a result of a business that never really ascended beyond its origins.

CP 2573 (FF 1.86).

The loss of the Federal Firearms License (FFL) was not due to intentional, conspiratorial or reckless actions on the part of Keith Kesselring or Donald Kesselring. They did not intend for KGS to lose its FFL. They did not just turn a blind eye. Keith tried hard to fix it. The Court finds there was not a conspiracy to cheat Jerry by letting the license go away. The Court does not find there was any

sort of intent to ignore the license problem or that Keith and Donald's actions were reckless. Their efforts were just insufficient.

CP 2573 (FF 1.85).

It found that Jerry was not at fault for the license's loss:

Jerry Kesselring was never told of the scope and nature of the ATF problem until after the ATF revoked KGS' FFL. Jerry Kesselring cannot be held responsible for KGS not maintaining the FFL. The loss of KGS' FFL was a failure to carry out the duties owed by the directors to KGS and to Jerry Kesselring, and for this, there is liability.⁶

Id. (FF 1.78). But it then determined that Jerry was somehow at fault because he was not a KGS board member:

Jerry Kesselring did not act to actively assist the Corporation, he resisted service on the Board of Directors, and he demanded a buy-out of his interest at an initial value far greater than what it turned out to actually be. Jerry did not contribute in any material way to the loss of the ATF License. The equities balance out.

CP 2573 (FF 1.84).

The trial court's findings essentially made clear that KGS's officers/directors were inept.

(2) <u>Division I's Opinion Sets A New Lower Standard for Corporate Officer/Director Fiduciary Duties, Excusing Statutory Duties as a Matter of Equity Because This Was a Derivative Action</u>

 $^{^{\}rm 6}$ Despite determining that there should be liability, the court awarded no damages.

In general terms, Washington law allows a minority shareholder of a closely held corporation to bring an action against directors, officers, and/or other shareholders for their breaches of fiduciary duty in a derivative suit on behalf of the corporation for the damages sustained by the corporation when the corporation's leadership fails to act on the breaches of fiduciary duty. CR 23.1; RCW 23B.07.400; *Interlake Porsche & Audi, Inc. v Bucholz*, 45 Wn. App. 502, 504-06, 519-20, 728 P.2d 597 (1986), *review denied*, 107 Wn.2d 1022 (1987).⁷ In such a derivative action, the judgment belongs to the corporation rather than to the individual shareholders because the shareholder is, in effect, "standing in the shoes of the corporation." *LaHue v. Keystone Inv. Co.*, 6 Wn. App. 765, 779, 496 P.2d 343, *review denied*, 81 Wn.2d 1003 (1972).

But merely because a derivative action is an equitable proceeding, op. at 8-9, does not mean that in the guise of exercising its equitable powers, a court may diminish the fiduciary duties owed by corporate officers/directors to the corporation and its shareholders.

Notwithstanding the trial court's findings noted *supra* that described clear-cut breaches of fiduciary duty by KGS's corporate

Petition for Review - 8

⁷ Hayton Farms, Inc. v. Pro-Fac Co-op, Inc., 2011 WL 2898651 at *4 (W.D. Wash. 2011) ("Waste and mismanagement of corporate assets, issuing stock for inadequate consideration, and depreciation in the value of the stock are all examples of derivative claims because they affect the entire corporation, not just a few shareholders.").

officers/directors, Division I's opinion excused such breaches in the guise of the exercise of its equitable authority in connection with the derivative action.

The standards for the conduct of officers/directors in Washington are today a matter of statute. RCW 23B.08.300/.420. The standards articulated in .300(1)/.420(1) are in the conjunctive. They *all* must be met. See Appendix. The trial court's conclusions are summarized in four key conclusions of law that effectively insulated Keith from any breach of fiduciary duty. CP 2576. See Appendix. In arriving at its conclusions, the trial court seemingly discerned a lower fiduciary duty for officers/directors in a family-held corporation or it concluded that the business judgment rule exonerated officers/directors from any act taken in "good faith." CP 2571 (FF 1.76), 2572 (FF 1.80), 2573 (FF 1.86). Division I's opinion ultimately condoned the trial court's analysis. Op. at 10-13. An analysis of fiduciary duty that relies on the "characteristics" of the corporation effectively misinterprets and diminishes the duty owed by officers/directors. This Court should not condone such an analysis that has significant adverse repercussions in our state. It should grant review. RAP 13.4(b).

Division I asserts that this case does not involve the business judgment rule. Op. at 10 nn.4, 17. But that principle is effectively built

into the statutory duties set forth in .300 and .420,8 and it does not condone officer/director ineptitude in any event. *Hoy v. 400 Condo. Ass'n*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1047, *review denied*, 194 Wn.2d 1013 (2019) (business judgment rule inapplicable to decision made incompetently, i.e. by failing to "exercise proper care, skill, and diligence."). However, Division I's analysis that because a derivative action is equitable in nature, op. at 17, equity can somehow overcome clear statutory and common law principles setting forth director/officer duties to the corporation is wrong, and pernicious.

Division I's opinion ignores the statutory provision in .300/.420 that officers/directors must act with the care of an "ordinarily prudent person." That standard does not contemplate a diminished fiduciary duty based on a course of practice over the years by corporate officers/directors or a more limited fiduciary duty on the part of corporate officers/directors in a family-held corporation.

Division I's analysis is contrary to case law requiring that corporate officers/directors must be *competent* by exercising proper care, skill and diligence in managing the affairs of the corporation. *Shinn v*.

Petition for Review - 10

⁸ The standards enunciated in RCW 23B.08.300 and .420 "do not supplant the judicial standard of conduct which is based on the fiduciary relationship" between directors and officers of a corporation and its shareholders, but are consistent with and complement that standard. John Morey Maurice, *The 1990 Washington Business Corporation Act*, 25 Gonz. L. Rev. 373, 409 (1989-1990).

Thrust IV, Inc., 56 Wn. App. 827, 835, 786 P.2d 285, review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1023 (1990). Officers/directors breach the high standards of conduct required of them when they act incompetently, even where they act without the intent to defraud or injure the corporation or its shareholders. *Id.* at 834. They are also liable for a breach of fiduciary duty to the corporation when they fail to take action to prevent the fraud or other misconduct of other corporate directors. As the court observed in Senn v. Northwest Underwriters, Inc., 74 Wn. App. 408, 414-16, 875 P.2d 637 (1994), directors are liable for the fraud of other directors about which they should be reasonably aware, and ignorance of the corporation's affairs is no excuse. Corporate directors cannot simply close their eyes to what is going on around them and thereby avoid the consequences of the breach of fiduciary duty. Id. at 416-17. Poweroil Mfg. Co. v. Carstensen, 69 Wn.2d 673, 677-78, 419 P.2d 793 (1966). Simply put, as the court noted in Williams v. Queen Fisheries, Inc., 2 Wn. App. 691, 695, 469 P.2d 583 (1970): "The fiduciary obligation may be breached, although no corruption, dishonesty or bad faith is involved."

Contrary to Division I's seeming position, a director's or officer's good faith or a course of dealing over the years are insufficient to shield them from liability because a director or officer "must act with such care as a reasonably prudent person in a like position would use under similar

circumstances." *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). *See also*, *Seafirst Corp. v. Jenkins*, 644 F. Supp. 1152, 1158 (W.D. Wash. 1986) ("Proof of good faith alone is not sufficient to satisfy the business judgment rule."). Thus, good faith or a course of dealing does not exempt officers/directors from liability where the loss is the result of their failure to exercise proper care, skill and diligence. *Id.* at 1158 (citing 3A *Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Private Corporations* § 1040 at 56 (Perm. Ed. 1986)). Equity does not permit an officer/director to fail to exercise "proper care, skill, and diligence" in handling his/her fiduciary duties. *Shinn*, 56 Wn. App. at 834-35.

Ultimately, officers/directors have a duty to protect shareholders' interests. In *Senn*, *supra*, the court held that "officers and directors have an affirmative duty to be aware of the affairs of the companies they serve and...they can be held liable for activities of other officers and directors which they reasonably should know about." *Id.* at 414. The court cited with approval *Francis v. United Jersey Bank*, 432 A.2d 814 (N.J. 1981), where the New Jersey court considered whether a corporate director was personally liable for the failure to prevent the misappropriation of

⁹ The trial court exonerated the brothers from liability because they acted in good faith: "They believed they were acting in the best interests of the Company." CP 25745 (FF 1.88). According to the trial court, because all three brothers experienced significant losses and lost business opportunities, all three should suffer, even though Don and Keith's mismanagement of KGS, not Jerry's, caused the loss of the ATF license. *Id.* (FF 1.89).

corporate funds by other directors who were also officers and shareholders of the corporation. The director was determined to be liable for a defalcation by other officers of the company because her inattention to the company's business contributed to the company's loss. *Id.* at 415. The *Senn* court found particularly persuasive the following language appearing in *Francis*:

Because directors are bound to exercise ordinary care, they cannot set up as a defense lack of the knowledge needed to exercise the requisite degree of care. If one "feels that he has not had sufficient business experience to qualify him to perform the duties of a director, he should either acquire the knowledge by inquiry, or refuse to act." (Citation omitted).

Id. at 416 (quoting *Francis*, 432 A.2d 822). The court noted the following observation about this excerpt from *Francis*:

The logic of this proposition is irrefutable. One cannot discharge a duty by remaining ignorant of what that duty entails. Just as ignorance of the law is no excuse for the violation of the law, ignorance of the affairs of a business to which one owes a duty of diligence, care and skill does not excuse a director from liability for her colleagues' fraud or malfeasance.

Id. at 416.

After *Senn*, officers/directors are liable for the fraud or malfeasance of other officers and directors if they reasonably should have known about the fraudulent activity. Where the fraud is "so blatantly wrongful that the other directors would have had to stop if confronted,"

directors or officers are required to "take reasonable steps to stop the continuing course of conduct." *Id.* at 418.

Similarly, merely because the breaches of fiduciary duty, as here, were routinely tolerated by corporate management over a long period of time, such breaches of fiduciary duty do not "ripen" into a legitimate corporate practice by corporate management. If it was a common practice for corporate officers/directors to steal corporate funds, and such a practice occurred for years, that behavior, unacceptable at the outset is no less a breach of fiduciary duty later on.

Finally, corporate officers/directors in a family-held corporation must still meet the standard of competence. There is no authority for the proposition that the officers/directors of a family-held corporation have a lower fiduciary duty to such a corporation. In fact, this Court has held to the contrary; family-held corporations are not immune from claims of fiduciary duty against their officers. *Hayes Oyster Co.*, 64 Wn.2d at 386.¹⁰

Where the trial court discerned breaches of fiduciary duty by Keith and Don, they should not have benefited from such breaches. Instead, the trial court allowed Keith and Don to take their shares of KGS, whose

Petition for Review - 14

 $^{^{10}}$ And this only makes sense. This Court would not hold the corporate officers/directors of Nordstrom's to a lower fiduciary duty merely because the corporation was family-owned.

value had been dramatically diminished by their breaches of fiduciary duty as if nothing had happened. Disgorgement is routinely a remedy for a breach of a fiduciary's duty. *Eriks v. Denver*, 118 Wn.2d 451, 462, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992) ("The general principle that a breach of ethical duties may result in denial or disgorgement of fees is well-recognized."); *Cotton v. Kronenberg*, 111 Wn. App. 258, 44 P.3d 878 (2002), *review denied*, 148 Wn.2d 1011 (2003) (court upheld complete disgorgement of attorney's fees for breach of fiduciary duty).

If a corporate director or officer, an agent of the corporation, breaches his duty of loyalty owed to the corporation, a court has the discretion to require the offending director or officer to reimburse the corporation any amounts she/he received while committing the fiduciary breaches. Williams, 2 Wn. App. at 698. "[A] disloyal agent does not have a right to compensation by virtue of a breach of his duty of loyalty, but a breach does not exclude the exercise of the court's discretion granting him compensation." Id. (citing Restatement (Second) of Agency § 469 (1958). The Williams court further evaluated the relevant Restatement provision, noting that "if the breach is extreme, that is, willful and deliberate, the agent is not entitled, as a matter of right, to compensation even for services which may have been properly performed if no compensation has been apportioned for those services." Id.

Keith and Don should not have received distributions of KGS corporate assets when their breaches of fiduciary duty resulted in KGS's loss of over \$5 million in value, CP 2572 (FF 1.80), and ultimately caused KGS's demise. *Shinn* compels the award of damages to KGS for that loss. CP 2311-19. Moreover, Keith and Don were responsible for the \$5+ million in value lost by KGS due to its loss of the ATF license. They should also be liable for the expense to KGS of any tax liability due to mishandling of the corporate inventory, and the actual losses to KGS for corporate compensation and their expenditures of KGS resources on their personal expenses.

Division I's opinion merits review because it is contrary to the specific direction of RCW 23B.08.300/.420, and is contrary to case law both of this Court and the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Moreover, review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should not condone a standard of corporate behavior that condones flagrant abuse of the officer/director status or gross dereliction of fiduciary duties to the corporation. RAP 13.4(b)(4).¹¹

_

¹¹ As noted in Lyman Johnson, *Having the Fiduciary Duty Talk: Model Advice for Corporate Officers (and Other Senior Agents)*, 63 Bus. Law 147, 153-53 (2007):

Corporate activity today is heavily regulated. Securities, environmental, antitrust, employment, and criminal laws—to mention just a few—all bear on a company's business affairs. Consequently, corporate officers may need to be advised as to how a host of regulatory regimes might affect a company's operations. Many of

(3) <u>Jerry Should Recover His Fees under a Common Fund Theory</u>

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