FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/31/2020 11:58 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98604-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JERRY KESSELRING,

Petitioner,

V.

DONALD KESSELRING, and JUDITH G. KESSELRING, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof, KEITH KESSELRING and MARY KESSELRING, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof, ESTATE OF BRAD D. KESSELRING, and KESSELRING GUN SHOP, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS KEITH AND MARY KESSELRING'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICE OF WILLIAM G. KNUDSEN, P.S. SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

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

III. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeals applied the plain language of the Washington Corporation Act, consistent with legislative intent and established case law.

The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion did not endorse a "lower fiduciary duty standard" for the officers and directors of a family-held corporation. (Petition 3) To the contrary, the Court of Appeals interpreted the plain language of the Corporations Act in holding that the trial court properly considered whether the directors of KGS discharged their duties "(a) in good faith; (b) [w]ith the care an ordinary prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances; and (c) in a manner the director reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the corporation." RCW 23B.08.300, quoted Opinion 11.

The plain language of the statute thus imposes a standard of care based on the particular corporate circumstances. It is supported by the legislature's intent to recognize that the standard of care requires consideration of "such factors as the size, complexity, urgency, and location of activities carried on by the particular corporation," as well as "the background, qualifications, and

management responsibilities of a particular director." (Op. 12, quoting 2 Senate Journal, 51st Leg., Reg. Sess., at 3042-43 (1989)) *Accord*, American Law Institute, *Principles of Corp. Governance* § 4.01, comment e (1994) ("the nature and extent of the functions and obligations of a director or officer will vary depending upon such factors as the nature of the business, the urgency and magnitude of a problem, and the corporation's size and complexity.").

This standard of care is neither new nor novel. It "embodies long traditions of the common law," and is uniformly applied under a host of other statutes and in the law of torts. 2 Senate Journal at 3042. See, e.g., RCW 43.33A.140 (state investment board); RCW 48.05.370 (officers and directors of an entity holding a controlling interest in an insurer); Hendrickson v. Moses Lake Sch. Dist., 192 Wn.2d 269, 277, 428 P.3d 1197, 1202 (2018) (tort duty of "reasonable care under the circumstances."). Rather than providing a fixed standard applicable in all situations, this standard of reasonable care "express[es] the opinion of society as to what should be done or left undone by a reasonable man under the circumstances of the particular case." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 285 (1965)

Further, Jerry's attempt to lay this family business's decades of informal management at the feet of his brothers as a matter of law

and notwithstanding the trial court's contrary findings of fact, ignores that in Washington, like most states, "no liability for damages will occur unless a challenging party also sustains the burden of proving that a breach of duty of care standards was the legal cause of loss to the corporation." American Law Institute, Principles of Corp. Governance § 4.01 (1994). Thus, each of the cases petitioner cites for the proposition that "Washington law has long recognized that officers/directors of corporations are fiduciaries for the corporations and the corporate shareholders they serve" (Petition 3) turns on whether the fiduciary profited, at the expense of other shareholders or the corporation, from his or her actions. This is true both in cases where relief was granted, see, e.g., Wool Growers Serv. Corp. v. Ragan, 18 Wn.2d 655, 692, 657, 140 P.2d 512 ("large sheep operators" who held majority of shares in corporation "breached their trust for their own private gain" in negotiations and settlement with minority shareholders, "uneducated Spaniard" sheepherders "who could neither read English nor write it"), reh'q denied, 18 Wn.2d 655 (1943), and where it was not. Leppaluoto v. Eggleston, 57 Wn.2d 393, 402, 357 P.2d 725 (1960) (although shareholder "in chartering his own equipment to the joint venture without the knowledge or consent of [the other shareholder],

breached a fiduciary obligation," in absence of evidence he personally profited, no basis for liability to corporation); State ex rel. Hayes Oyster Co. v. Keypoint Oyster Co., 64 Wn.2d 375, 384, 391 P.2d 979 (1964) ("a corporate officer will be held to strict accountability for any individual profits made by him in dealing with assets of the corporation . . . but that rule . . . does not justify the conclusion that appellants received any secret profits," quoting Bay City Lumber Co. v. Anderson, 8 Wn.2d 191, 205, 111 P.2d 771 (1941)) (all cited Petition 3).

Here, the trial court found in an unchallenged finding that respondents did not benefit from and in fact were harmed far more than petitioner by the consequences of the failures of their predecessors, which led to the loss of the ATF license and eventual liquidation of KGS. (FF 1.39, CP 2501) And although it is true that corporate officers and directors can be liable for the misconduct of other corporate directors, they are entitled to rely on information from other officers or directors. RCW 23B.08.300(2)(a), .420(2)(a). This is not a case where the respondents failed "to be involved in and familiarize herself with the business," like Senn v. Nw. Underwriters, Inc., 74 Wn. App. 408, 417, 875 P.2d 637 (1994) (Petition 11-13). To the contrary, the trial court heard and relied

upon extensive evidence of respondents' efforts to take control and correct both firearms handling and accounting by employees, and made specific findings, amply supported by the evidence, that in particular Brad's misconduct was "easily concealed" (FF 1.67, CP 2568), that "it would be inequitable to charge Don and Keith with Brad's theft," and that in any event the known losses to KGS were recovered in the settlement with Brad's estate from which Jerry benefited. (FF 1.66, CP 2568)

Finally, contrary to petitioner's argument (Petition 9), Washington courts have long recognized that the good faith conduct of officers and directors in a closely-held corporation cannot as a matter of law subject them to liability to minority shareholders. Respondents' duties as corporate officers and directors were subject to the "business judgment" rule, which required only that they act in good faith. "In considering the actions of a corporate officer, . . . the business judgment rule . . . shields the corporate officer from liability so long as he acts in good faith without a corrupt motive." *Para-Medical Leasing, Inc. v. Hangen*, 48 Wn. App. 389, 396, 739 P.2d 717, *rev. denied*, 109 Wn.2d 1003 (1987). Application of that rule by the trial court did not somehow subject respondents to a "lower,"

"reduced," or "diminished" fiduciary duty, as argued by petitioner in support of review. (Petition 1, 7, 9, 14)

The Court of Appeals' holding that "[i]n determining the standard of care under RCW 23B.08.300 and RCW 23B.08.400, the trial court could consider the characteristics" of the particular corporation the officers and directors serve (Op. 13) neither conflicts with any case law nor raises a public policy issue, much less one of substantial public interest that merits review in this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

B. The Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's exercise of discretion under these particular facts in an unpublished decision does not warrant further review.

Division One relied on established law in reviewing the trial court's extensive, largely unchallenged, findings of fact to hold that the trial court did not abuse its equitable discretion in refusing to reallocate the losses to the corporation "in a different way than the shareholder's ownership interests dictated." (Op. 16-18, citing Interlake Porsche & Audi, Inc. v. Bucholz, 45 Wn. App. 502, 520, 728 P.2d 597 (1986), rev. denied, 107 Wn.2d 1022 (1987)). Nothing in the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion reviewing the evidence in support of the trial court's decision, and properly giving weight to the

trial court's first-hand consideration of the idiosyncratic and tragic circumstances of this family business, warrants further review.

First, the Court of Appeals followed settled law in concluding that the shareholder derivative remedy sought by Jerry is an equitable remedy, reviewed for abuse of discretion, that authorizes the trial court under exceptional circumstances to reallocate an award to the corporation. (Op. 8-9) See LaHue v. Keystone Inv. Co., 6 Wn. App. 765, 777, 496 P.2d 343, rev. denied, 81 Wn.2d 1003 (1972) (Petition 8); Interlake Porsche, 45 Wn. App. at 520 (Petition 8, 17). The appellate court's unpublished opinion relying upon that standard does not conflict with any decision of this or the intermediate appellate courts and does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Second, that the Court of Appeals then affirmed the trial court's consideration of the unique circumstances of this case in its undisputed findings of fact, including "the fact that [Donald and Keith] did not become directors or officers until 2009 and the ATF violations went back as far as 1968," that "the regulatory mismanagement of KGS preceded Donald and Keith's time as officers and directors," and that "Keith made significant efforts to get KGS ATF compliant," while "Jerry resisted service on the Board of

Directors" (Op. 17), similarly raises no issues warranting review. The tragic events that befell the Kesselring family and its gun business are entirely idiosyncratic and present no issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. Petitioner's belated request for fees on appeal does not raise further grounds for review.

Jerry did not request fees in the trial court, and on appeal asserted a "common fund" theory for recovery of his appellate fees. (App. Br. 41) Far from protecting the interests of or providing a value to the corporation, Jerry cost his surviving brothers hundreds of thousands of dollars defending against his self-centered pursuit of a final pound of monetized flesh for his parents' and dead brother's claimed mismanagement of the family business. Having affirmed the equitable decision below, the Court of Appeals' failure to directly address petitioner's belated request for fees on appeal raises no grounds for review in this Court.

IV. CONCLUSION

For almost a decade, and despite having received over threequarters of a million dollars from the family business he did nothing to help save, and much to destroy, petitioner has tried to make his surviving brothers pay for his family's misfortunes, which affected them far more than him. The trial court wisely sought to bring closure to this unfortunate family conflict, and the Court of Appeals wisely affirmed its decision. The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirming the trial court's discretionary balancing of the equities to deny petitioner's claim for extraordinary derivative relief when he suffered no "special injury," where his surviving brothers acted in good faith and did not put their own interests above those of the family business or otherwise breach their fiduciary duties, raises no issues for further review in this Court. This Court should deny review.